In the Supreme Court of the State of California

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

Case No. S213687

v,

DONNA MARIE TRUJILLO,

Defendant and Appellant.

SUPREME COURT
FILED

JAN - 7 2014

Sixth Appellate District, Case No. H038316 Santa Clara County Superior Court, Case No. Linda R. Clark, Judge

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

QUESTION FOR REVIEW

Does the failure to object to a presentence investigation fee and/or a probation supervision fee forfeit a claim that the trial court failed to make a finding of the defendant's ability to pay?

STATEMENT

Defendant attempted to sell two valuable stolen Russian icons at a garage sale. On November 17, 2011, a jury convicted defendant of receiving stolen property (Pen. Code, § 496, subd. (a), further statutory citations are to this code unless otherwise specified). (4RT 78-79, 109-110, 115-116, 252-262, 5RT 328-330; CT 127.)

On April 20, 2012, the court suspended imposition of sentence and placed defendant on probation. The court imposed the following fines and fees: a \$240, plus \$24 (10 percent) restitution fund fine (§ 1202.4), with an equal probation revocation fine stayed (§ 1202.44); a \$129.75 criminal justice administration fee (Gov. Code, § 29550.1) payable to the City of San Jose; a \$40 court security fee (§ 1465.8); a \$30 criminal conviction assessment fee (Gov. Code, § 70373); a presentence investigation fee "not to exceed \$300" and a probation supervision fee "not to exceed \$110 per month" (§ 1203.1b)¹. (5RT 357-358; CT 171; see also CT 153-159.)

The court ordered defendant to "report to the Department of Revenue within 30 days for completion of a payment plan for the fines and fees that will be imposed. . . ." (5RT 356.) Defendant neither objected to the fines and fees, nor professed an inability to pay them. (See, e.g., 5RT 351-358.) Defendant refused to speak to the probation officer prior to sentencing. She accused that officer of conspiring against her (see CT 155-156), and failed to appear at the initial sentencing hearing (5RT 356; CT 172).

¹ A copy of section 12031b is attached as an sppendix to this brief. (Exhibit A.)

The Court of Appeal for the Sixth Appellate District found appellant's failure to object forfeited a challenge to the criminal justice administration fee under *People v. McCullough* (2013) 56 Cal.4th 589. (Typed opn. at p. 10.) However, the appellate court reversed and remanded with directions for the trial court to follow the statutory procedure in section 1203.1b before imposing probation related costs of the presentence investigation and probation supervision. The court found *McCullough* inapplicable to probation-related fees, noting that the fees in this case are not "de minimis."

Notwithstanding *McCullough*'s disapproval of *People v. Pacheco* (2010) 187 Cal.App.4th 1392, which allowed challenges to the sufficiency of the evidence to support an ability to pay finding to be raised for the first time on appeal, the Court of Appeal invoked *Pacheco* as authority obligating the trial court to determine defendant's ability to pay under section 1203.1b. The court stated: "Even if we were to conclude that under *McCullough* [appellant's] sufficiency of the evidence argument as to probation related costs is forfeited, there is nothing in the record to support the conclusion that anyone, whether the probation officer or the court, *made a determination of* [her] ability to pay the probation supervision fee or cost of preparing the presentence investigation report. In other words, there is nothing in the record to support the conclusion that the court or the probation officer complied with the procedural safeguards," (Typed opn. at p. 6, brackets added and fn. omitted].)

This Court granted review.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

A defendant's failure at sentencing to make a timely, specific objection that the trial court erroneously failed to make a finding of the defendant's ability to pay the amount of a fine or fee, or that the trial court's finding of the defendant's ability to pay was otherwise deficient, forfeits the claim of error on appeal. Many opinions by this Court require a

timely, specific objection in order to appeal a trial court's exercise of sentencing discretion. That line of decisions culminated in *People v. McCullough* (2013) 56 Cal.4th 589. That decision held the defendant's failure to make an objection regarding a booking fee under Government Code section 29550.2 forfeited an appellate claim of insufficient evidence for a finding of the defendant's ability to pay. (*Id.* at p. 591.) Contrary to the decision of the Court of Appeal below, *McCullough* reflects a rule of general applicability regarding appellate challenges to a trial court's finding of the defendant's ability to pay fees and fines in the amount ordered at sentencing. Nor is *McCullough* properly characterized as an exception to a rule that the issue is one of "sufficiency of the evidence" that generally can be raised for the first time on appeal.

Treating such claims as a sufficiency question ignores the several justifications for the application of the forfeiture doctrine to sentencing issues in general and to the defendant's ability to pay a fine or fee in particular. A determination of ability to pay depends on a defendant's individual circumstances considered in light of the sentencing discretion accorded to the trial court under the relevant statute. A timely and specific objection directs the trial court's attention to any needed findings as prescribed by the Legislature. The objection requirement reduces the need for appeals challenging fees and fines—appeals that may involve costs to the public exceeding the amount of payments ordered by the trial court and challenged by the defendant. The requirement also avoids unnecessary remands for resentencing on matters that were not subject to real dispute. Conversely, it helps to ensure the compilation of a sufficient record when a defendant's ability to pay is a legitimate issue in actual dispute.

No convincing rationale exists to require courts to parse, on a case-bycase basis, the statutory basis and the procedural background respecting each fine and/or fee for the first time on appeal before the court can determine that a failure to object forfeited an appeal based on a claim that the trial court failed to make a finding, or made a deficient finding, of his or her ability to pay. Timely and specific objection in the sentencing court is the rule; if an individual exception to the rule applies, it is the defendant's burden to establish it as with other forfeitures of appellate claims. As no exception applies here, appellant's failure to object forfeited the issue on appeal.

ARGUMENT

- I. PEOPLE V. McCullough (2013) 56 CAL.4TH 589 REFLECTS A FORFEITURE RULE OF GENERAL APPLICATION TO SENTENCING CLAIMS INVOLVING A DEFENDANT'S ABILITY TO PAY A FINE OR FEE ORDERED BY THE TRIAL COURT
 - A. Challenges to the Imposition of Fines and Fees Must First Be Raised in the Trial Court to Preserve the Issue for Appeal.

A long line of decisions by this Court establish that nonjurisdictional sentencing issues not raised by a timely, specific objection in the trial court are forfeited. (*People v. Nelson* (2011) 51 Cal.4th 198, 227 ["At the time of his 1995 crime and his 2000 sentencing, the law called for the court to consider a defendant's ability to pay in setting a restitution fine, and defendant could have objected at the time if he believed inadequate consideration was being given to this factor"]; *People v. Avila* (2009) 46 Cal.4th 680, 729 [forfeiture of claim of a trial court's failure to consider inability to pay restitution fine]; *People v. Gonzalez* (2003) 31 Cal.4th 745, 755 [claim challenging a trial court's reliance on defendant's use of firearms to impose the upper term sentence and a sentencing enhancement, as well as claim that court imposed restitution without a hearing both forfeited]; *People v. Tillman* (2000) 22 Cal.4th 300, 302-303 [state's claim that trial court failed to state reasons for not imposing restitution fine forfeited]; *People v. Scott* (1994) 9 Cal.4th 3331, 353 [claims that the trial

court failed "to properly make or articulate its discretionary sentencing choices" must be raised first in the trial court or they are forfeited]; *People v. Welch* (1993) 5 Cal.4th 228, 235, 237 [failure to object to probation conditions forfeits a challenge on appeal]; *People v. Walker* (1991) 54 Cal.3d 1013, 1023 [failure to advise that restitution fines would be a consequence of a guilty plea forfeited].)

The decisions of this Court apply an equally well-settled rule of appellate review by requiring a defendant to make a specific and timely objection in the trial court to preserve a challenge on appeal to the discretionary sentencing choices of the trial court. (See *People v. McCullough*, *supra*, 56 Cal.4th at p. 593; *In re Sheena K.* (2007) 40 Cal.4th 875, 880-881; *People v. Scott*, *supra*, 9 Cal.4th at pp. 348-351; *People v. Welch* (1993) 5 Cal.4th 228, 232-237.)

Courts of Appeal have applied these principles to hold broadly that challenges to the imposition of fines and fees must be raised first in the trial court and will not be entertained for the first time on appeal. (See, e.g., People v. Crittle (2007) 154 Cal.App.4th 368, 371 [claim that trial court failed to consider ability to pay crime prevention fines forfeited]; People v. Valtakis (2003) 105 Cal.App.4th 1066, 1068-1076 [claim that the trial court failed to consider ability to pay a Penal Code section 1203.1b probation costs fee, inform the defendant of his statutory right to a hearing, or hold a hearing, all forfeited]; People v. Hodges (1999) 70 Cal.App.4th 1348, 1357 [challenge to imposition of section 29550.2 booking fee forfeited]; People v. Gibson (1994) 27 Cal.App.4th 1466, 1468-1469 [claim that trial court failed to consider ability to pay restitution fine forfeited].)

B. McCullough is the Rule of Appellate Forfeiture, Not an Exception

People v. McCullough, supra, 56 Cal.4th at p. 593, is fully consistent with a broad application of the appellate forfeiture rule respecting these

sentencing matters. There, this Court recognized the "numerous occasions" where it has observed that "ordinarily, a criminal defendant who does not challenge an assertedly erroneous ruling of the trial court in that court has forfeited his or her right to raise the claim on appeal." (*McCullough*, *supra*, 56 Cal.4th at p. 593, quoting *Sheena K.*, 40 Cal.4th at p. 880.) The purpose of the appellate forfeiture rule is to encourage parties to "bring errors to the attention of the trial court, so that they may be corrected." (*McCullough*, *supra*, 56 Cal.4th at p. 593, quoting *Sheena K.*, 40 Cal.4th at p. 880.) Conversely, "[i]t is both unfair and inefficient to permit a claim of error on appeal that, if timely brought to the attention of the trial court, could have been easily corrected or avoided." (*McCullough*, *supra*, at p. 593, quoting *People v. Vera* (1997) 15 Cal.4th 269, 276.)

Cal.4th 589, found the need for the trial court to make a determination of ability to pay must expressly be invoked by the defendant, lest a factual inference be made otherwise. [Cite] Specifically, the Court held that a defendant who failed to challenge a booking fee under Government Code section 29550.2 forfeited a claim of insufficiency of evidence as to an ability to pay finding. (*Id.* at p. 591.) This Court disapproved of *People v. Pacheco* (2010) 187 Cal.App.4th 1392, which held that the issue of ability to pay based on sufficiency of the evidence is preserved for appellate review regardless of whether an objection is made at sentencing. [Cite.]

C. The Legislature Did Not Intend for Courts to Have to Parse Fines and Fees Statutes on a Case By Case Basis

In the present case, the Court of Appeal acknowledged the holding in *McCullough*, but nonetheless remanded for an ability-to-pay finding on authority of *Pacheco*. (Typed slip opn. at p. 6.) It reasoned that the record failed to show the finding of ability to pay presentence investigation and probation supervision fees required under section 1203.1b and

distinguished *McCullough* on the grounds that the presentence investigation and probation supervision fees are not de minimis and that the Legislature required a finding of ability to pay for such fees, with or without an objection.

The Court of Appeal incorrectly interpreted and distinguished *McCullough*, a decision in which this Court clearly fashioned a general rule of appellate forfeiture. Nothing in section 1203.1b abrogates that rule.

McCullough reached its conclusion by referencing an array of fines and fees, from restitution fines (former Gov. Code, § 13967 [see now § 1202.4]) to drug program fees (Health & Saf. Code, § 11372.7), all of which can only be preserved for appellate review by objection. (See People v. Forshay (1995) 39 Cal.App.4th 686, 689-690; People v. Martinez (1998) 65 Cal.App.4th 1511, 1517.) This Court said: "By 'failing to object on the basis of his [ability] to pay,' defendant forfeits both his claim of factual error and the dependent claim challenging 'the adequacy of the record on that point." (McCullough, supra, at p. 597, quoting Forshay, supra, at pp. 689-690.)

Nothing in the Court's language suggested an appellate court must go through the Penal Code to assess whether the forfeiture rule applies to each individual fee and/or fine. The fundamental principle is that appellate forfeiture applies to such nonjurisdictional issues. *McCullough* relied, in part, on *People v. Simon* (2001) 25 Cal.4th 1082, 1086. The latter decision applied appellate forfeiture to a defendant who failed to enter a timely trial objection to venue. Observing that the People bear the burden of proving both proper venue of a criminal case and a defendant's ability to pay a booking fee by a preponderance of the evidence, the Court reasoned: "[A] defendant who does nothing to put at issue the propriety of imposition of a booking fee forfeits the right to challenge the sufficiency of the evidence to support imposition of the booking fee on appeal, in the same way that a

defendant who goes to trial forfeits his challenge to the propriety of venue by not timely challenging it." (*McCullough*, *supra*, 56 Cal.4th at pp. 597-598.) This language implies a broad forfeiture principle with respect to nonjurisdictional issues like the present one, which is not confined to booking fees, or for that matter to sentencing issues.

McCullough also cited in support of its holding other statutes that "similarly require[] a court to determine if a defendant is able to pay a fee before the court may impose it," including probation supervision fees (§ 987.8), work furlough and electronic monitoring fees (§ 1208.2), parole supervision and treatment fees (§§ 646.94, 3006), reimbursement for cost of court-appointed counsel (§ 987.8), and drug program fees (Health & Saf. Code, § 11372.7). The Court observed these statutes contain varying procedural safeguards not contained in the booking fee statute, such as provision for notice and a hearing and a list of factors that should be taken into account in determining ability to pay. The Court said that the absence of similar procedural safeguards or guidelines for the imposition of booking fees showed the Legislature considered the burden of the booking fee to be de minimis and made "the rationale for forfeiture particularly strong." (56 Cal.4th at p. 599.) That the Court made its forfeiture ruling in a "particularly strong" case does not imply that the related and analogous cases do not fall under the rule.

As McCullough reflects, appellate forfeiture applies generally to a claim of omission or deficiency in the trial court's findings of a defendant's ability to pay a required fine or fee. What the failure to object forfeits is an appellate court's review of the reasonableness of the sentencing discretion delegated to the trial court by the Legislature, based on the factual findings—either express or implied—made by the court at sentencing. The availability of appellate review of that discretionary matter ultimately does not turn on the mechanics of a court's consideration of the defendant's

ability to pay, on the amount of a particular fine or fee, or on the characterization of a challenge to that amount as a sufficiency-of-the-evidence claim.

Such an exercise of sentencing discretion based on the trial court's factual findings is no different, for present purposes, than a requirement that the trial court supply reasons to support its selection of a particular sentence within an authorized range (see *Scott*, *supra*, 9 Cal.4th at pp. 348-351), or a requirement that the trial court determine the defendant's eligibility for, or the conditions of, probation within the parameters set by statute (see *Welch*, *supra*, 5 Cal.4th at p. 232).

Nor does the issue of forfeiture focus on the amount of the fee or fine in a particular case. Whether the fine is "de minimis" or substantial, an objection is required. For example, in *People v. Nelson*, *supra*, 51 Cal.4th 198, the Court upheld an invocation of the appellate forfeiture rule where the defendant had failed to object on the grounds of inability to pay a \$10,000 restitution fine. (*Id.* at p. 227 ["At the time of his 1995 crime and his 2000 sentencing, the law called for the court to consider a defendant's ability to pay in setting a restitution fine, and defendant could have objected at the time if he believed inadequate consideration was being given to this factor."].) The Court reiterated that there is no requirement that the sentencing court make an express finding of an "ability to pay" and that the absence of specific findings does not demonstrate that the court failed to properly consider the issue. (*Id.* at p. 227.)

Additionally, challenges to ability-to pay findings, or the lack thereof, concern "factual determinations" not legal conclusions. *McCullough* so recognized by citing in support of its holding both *People v. Welch, supra*, 5 Cal.4th at page 236 [probation conditions], and *People v. Scott, supra*, 9 Cal.4th 331, 354-355 [sentencing reasons], both decisions by the Court concerning claimed sentencing errors that "encompass[] factual matters

only," which are forfeited in the absence of a trial objection. (*McCullough*, supra, 54 Cal.4th at p. 597.) The forfeiture principle announced in Welch, reiterated in Scott, and reaffirmed in McCullough, clearly applies to a much broader range of sentencing decisions than whether to impose a booking fee based on a defendant's ability to pay.

That conclusion is not altered by the fact that a claim involving the sufficiency of evidence for a finding of crime normally does not require a defendant to object to preserve the issue on appeal. (See, e.g., *People v. Butler* (2003) 31 Cal.4th 1119, 1126.) The latter rule comfortably coexists with the appellate forfeiture doctrine because true sufficiency claims are normally preserved by the plea of not guilty in criminal cases, and because the deeply rooted right to due process and to the presumption of innocence compels the principle that only guilty persons are subject to criminal punishment. (See *Jackson v. Virginia* (1979) 443 U.S. 307, 316-319.)

By contrast, a requirement that the trial court consider the defendant's ability to pay a fine or fee is a creature of statute and a relatively novel one at that. (See *People v. Valtakis* (2003) 105 Cal.App.4th 1066, 1068, 1071-1073 ["Section 1203.1b and other recoupment statutes reflect a strong legislative policy in favor of shifting the costs stemming from criminal acts back to the convicted defendant" and "replenishing a county treasury from the pockets of those who have directly benefited from county expenditures."], quoting *People v. Phillips* (1994) 25 Cal.App.4th 62, 69.) Legislative conditions like ability-to-pay considerations on a court's discretionary sentencing choice rarely, if ever, implicate constitutional interests of the defendant. Indeed, many fees are not punishment at all. (See, e.g., *McCullough*, *supra*, 56 Cal.4th at p. 598 [noting that jail booking fee is not "punishment" for constitutional purposes].)

D. Strong Policy Reasons Support the Requirement of an Objection Below

The Legislature's addition of an ability-to-pay component to any given fine or fee affords no basis for excusing the defendant from ordinary appellate forfeiture rules that apply at sentencing. The policy decision to require a trial court to consider a defendant's ability to pay with respect to some (though by no means all) fees and/or fines is typically the only basis for the defendant to mount a challenge to the trial court's discretionary setting of the amount in the first place. All the more reason, the defendant should mount the challenge when and where it has the potential of doing the defendant the most good—in the trial court. There is simply no good reason for appellate courts to allow the defendant to sandbag such claims.

Forfeiture in the context of a trial court's discretionary sentencing choices is a well-articulated principle, given the ease of correction and judicial efficiency when such matters are addressed at sentencing:

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