#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

# PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

v.

DONNA MARIE TRUJILLO,

Defendant and Appellant.

Case No. S213687

SUPREME COURT

FEB **3** 2014

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS (Cal. Rules of Ct., Rule 8.520(a)(2))

Deputy

Sixth Appellate District, Case No. H038316 Santa Clara County Superior Court, Case No. C1199870 Linda R. Clark, Judge

The Sixth District Appellate Program, in association with:

Randall Conner State Bar No. 179122 160 Franklin Street, Suite 210 Oakland, CA 94607 (510) 709-4066

Attorney for Appellant

##

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

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The appellate courts may decline review of a claim of error when the defendant has failed to make a timely and specific objection to a decision within the trial court's sentencing discretion. However, courts do not apply the forfeiture doctrine to clear and correctable errors of law.

As explained herein, Penal Code section 1203.1b differs from other fines and fees statutes that this Court has examined for purposes of the forfeiture doctrine. The Legislature amended this statute in 1995 to require a knowing and intelligent waiver of the defendant's right to an ability to pay hearing. The Legislature's plain and unambiguous amendments to section 1203.1b foreclose application of the forfeiture doctrine to defendant's claim in the instant case.

In *People v. Pacheco* (2010) 187 Cal.App.4th 1392 (*Pacheco*) and in the instant case, the Court of Appeal for the Sixth Appellate District reversed and remanded probation cost orders on the grounds that in each case, the defendant had not made a knowing and intelligent waiver of a hearing on his or her ability to pay. These cases, in short, found clear legal error and corrected it by remand to the trial court with directions to comply with the statute.

This Court's precedents do not require application of the forfeiture doctrine to the instant case. The procedures required by Penal Code section 1203.1b differ from the procedures required by Penal Code section 1202.4, a statute that this Court addressed in *People v. Avila* (2009) 46 Cal.4<sup>th</sup> 680 (*Avila*), *People v. Gamache* (2010) 48 Cal.4<sup>th</sup> 347 (*Gamache*) and *People v. Nelson* (2011) 51 Cal.4<sup>th</sup> 198 (*Nelson*). And the procedures required by Penal Code section 1203.1b differ from the procedures required by Government Code section 29550.2, a statute this Court addressed in *McCullough*.

Finally, decisions in the First and Third Districts do not require application of the forfeiture doctrine to the instant case. In *People v. Valtakis* (2003) 105 Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> 1066 (*Valtakis*), the First District erred in interpreting the Legislature's 1995 amendments to Penal Code section 1203.1b to suit the policies underlying the forfeiture doctrine. In *People v. Snow* (2013) 219 Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> 1148 (*Snow*), the Third District erred in construing defendant's failure to request an ability to pay hearing as a knowing and intelligent waiver his right to that hearing.

This Court should affirm the Sixth District's finding in the instant case that the forfeiture doctrine did not apply to the defendant's claim, when the trial court ordered payment of probation costs without obtaining the defendant's knowing and intelligent waiver of her right to an ability to pay hearing. The trial court's failure to comply with Penal Code section 1203.1b's requirements presented a clear and correctable legal error.

#### **ARGUMENT**

- I. THE FORFEITURE DOCTRINE DOES NOT APPLY WHERE, AS HERE, THE TRIAL COURT MADE A CLEAR AND CORRECTABLE LEGAL ERROR
  - A. This Court has recognized that the Forfeiture Doctrine does not apply to Appeals demonstrating clear and correctable Legal Error

This Court's application of the forfeiture bar to sentencing matters began in *People v. Welch* (1993) 5 Cal.4th 228 (*Welch*), in which this Court enforced "[t]raditional objection and waiver principles" against a defendant who sought for the first time on appeal to litigate the reasonableness of probation conditions imposed by the trial court. (*Id.* at p. 236.) This Court reasoned that application of waiver principles helped to "discourage ... invalid probation conditions" and to "reduce the number of costly appeals brought on that basis" (*id.* at p. 235) as well as "encourage development of the record and a proper exercise of discretion in the trial court." (*Id.* at p. 236.)

In *People v. Scott* (1994) 9 Cal.4th 331 (*Scott*), "[f]aced squarely with the issue for the first time," this Court held that the forfeiture doctrine "should apply to claims involving the trial court's failure to properly make or articulate its discretionary sentencing choices." (*Id.* at p. 353.) This Court reasoned in *Scott* that "[a]lthough the court is required to impose sentence in a lawful manner, counsel is charged with understanding, advocating, and clarifying permissible sentencing choices at the hearing. Routine defects in the court's statement of reasons are easily prevented and corrected if called to the court's attention. As in other waiver cases, we hope to reduce the number of errors committed in the first instance and preserve the judicial resources otherwise used to correct them." (*Id.* at p. 353.) Therefore, this Court held that the defendant had forfeited a claim that

the sentence imposed on him, "though otherwise permitted by law, [was] imposed in a procedurally or factually flawed manner." (*Id.* at p. 354.)

However, as this court reviewed in *McCullough*, *Scott* and *Welch* had each distinguished between an alleged factual error that had not been addressed below or developed in the record because the defendant failed to object, and a claimed legal error, which "can be resolved without reference to the particular sentencing record developed in the trial court." (*McCullough*, *supra*, 56 Cal.4<sup>th</sup> at p. 594, quoting *Welch*, *supra*, 5 Cal.4th at p. 235.) "We observed that we may review an asserted legal error in sentencing for the first time on appeal where we would not review an asserted factual error." (*Ibid*, citing *Scott*, *supra*, 9 Cal.4<sup>th</sup> at p. 355 ["fact-specific errors ... are not readily susceptible of correction on appeal"].) "In the case of an asserted legal error, '[a]ppellate courts are willing to intervene in the first instance because such error is 'clear and correctable' independent of any factual issues presented by the record at sentencing." (*Ibid*, quoting *Scott*, *supra*, 9 Cal.4<sup>th</sup> at p. 354.)

Following *Scott*, this Court has considered claims that the forfeiture doctrine should apply in several cases regarding sentencing matters and post-trial orders in criminal cases. Two such cases relating to fines and fees imposed at sentencing reached different results based upon the nature of the trial court's alleged error.

In *People v. Tillman* (2000) 22 Cal.4<sup>th</sup> 300 (*Tillman*), this Court considered the Attorney General's appeal of a trial court's failure to state reasons for not imposing a restitution fine under Penal Code section 1202.4 and a matching parole revocation fine under Penal Code section 1202.45. (*Id.* at p. 302.) Citing *Welch* 

and *Scott*, this Court found that the Attorney General had forfeited his claim of error on appeal by failing to object in the trial court. (*Id.* at p. 303.)

In contrast to *Tillman*, in *People v. Smith* (2001) 21 Cal.4<sup>th</sup> 849 (*Smith*), this Court found no forfeiture of the Attorney General's claim that the trial court had imposed an erroneous parole revocation fine under Penal Code section 1202.45. (*Id.* at p. 853.) Reviewing *Welch* and *Scott* regarding clear and correctable errors of law, this Court reasoned that Penal Code section 1202.45 required a fine identical to the restitution fine under Penal Code section 1202.4, and that "[b]ecause the erroneous imposition of a parole revocation fine presents a pure question of law with only *one* answer, any such error is obvious and correctable without reference to any factual issues in the record or remanding for further findings." (*Id.* at pp. 852-853.)

Two other of this Court's decisions, both regarding appeals of HIV testing orders, also reached different results based upon the nature of the trial court's alleged error. In *People v. Stowell* (2003) 31 Cal.4th 1107 (*Stowell*), the defendant appealed an order for HIV testing, which required a finding of probable cause to believe that "blood, semen, or any other bodily fluid capable of transmitting HIV has been transferred from the defendant to the victim ..." (*Id.* at p. 1112, quoting Pen. Code, § 1202.1, subd. (e)(6)(A).) The defendant contended that the trial court had not made an express finding of probable cause and had not, as required, noted its finding on the court docket and minute order. (*Ibid.*) Applying general forfeiture principles because an HIV testing order is not punishment, and hence not a sentencing choice, this Court presumed that the trial court had made an implied finding of probable cause, and had hence satisfied the statutory prerequisite for the order. (*Id.* at pp. 1114-1117.)

But, this Court reached the opposite result in *People v. Butler* (2003) 31 Cal.4<sup>th</sup> 1119 (*Butler*), the companion case to *Stowell*. In *Butler*, as in *Stowell*, the defendant contended that the trial court had not made an express finding of probable cause and had not noted its finding on the court docket and minute order. (*Id.* at p. 1125.) This Court found that, as in *Stowell*, the defendant had forfeited his appeal of these errors by failing to object in the trial court. (*Id.* at pp. 1125-1126.) However, the Court of Appeal had also premised its reversal of the testing order on "the lack of any evidence on the record" to support an implied finding of probable cause. (*Id.* at p. 1126.) Like the appellate court, this Court found insufficient evidence in the record from which the trial court could have made an implied finding of probable cause as a prerequisite to a testing order, this Court found the testing order invalid as a matter of law. (*Id.* at pp. 1126-1127.)

Finally, in the case of *In re Sheena K*. (2007) 40 Cal.4<sup>th</sup> 875 (*Sheena K*.), this Court found that the forfeiture doctrine did not apply to a minor's claims on appeal that a juvenile probation condition forbidding her association with "anyone disapproved of by probation" was unconstitutionally vague and overbroad. This Court found that a challenge to a term of probation on the ground of unconstitutional vagueness or overbreadth that is capable of correction without reference to the particular sentencing record developed in the trial court can present a pure question of law. (*Id.* at p. 887.) It concluded that "[d]efendant's challenge to her probation condition as facially vague and overbroad presents an asserted error that is a pure question of law, easily remediable on appeal by modification of the condition. [Citations.]" (*Id.* at 888.)

In summary, this Court demonstrated in *Smith*, in *Butler* and in *Sheena K*. that the forfeiture doctrine will not apply to appeal of a clear and correctable legal error in sentencing matters and in post-trial orders in criminal cases. And, as discussed herein, a probation costs order that does not comply with Penal Code section 1203.1b can, as here, present a clear and correctable legal error.

B. Penal Code section 1203.1b requires the Defendant's knowing and intelligent Waiver of his or her right to an ability to pay Hearing

Penal Code section 1203.1b requires that the trial court hold a hearing on the defendant's ability to pay probation costs, absent the defendant's knowing and intelligent waiver of his or her right to a hearing. (§ 1203.1b, subds. (a) & (b).) The Legislature added these requirements to the statute in 1995, in response to an appellate court decision in 1994 that found a defendant had forfeited his claim for relief by accepting probation without objecting to a probation costs order.

Penal Code former sections 1203 and 1203.1 had long authorized trial courts to require the payment of certain items, such as fines and financial reparation and restitution, in proper cases as conditions of probation. (See, e.g., *People v. Lippner* (1933) 219 Cal. 395, 398; *In re McVeity* (1929) 98 Cal.App. 723, 726; *People v. Baker* (1974) 39 Cal.App.3d 550, 559 (*Baker*).) The *Baker* court concluded, however, that the former statutory scheme did not authorize trial courts to impose a probation condition requiring the defendant to pay for the costs of either his probation supervision or his prosecution. (*Baker, supra,* 39 Cal.App.3d at pp. 559-560.) After *Baker*, the Legislature enacted Penal Code section 1203.1b, effective January 1, 1981 (Stats.1980, ch. 555, § 1), which permitted the trial court to require a defendant to reimburse probation costs if the court determined, after a hearing, that the defendant had the ability to pay all or a

portion of such costs. (People v. Bennett (1987) 196 Cal.App.3d 1054, 1056, italics omitted (Bennett); People v. Washington (2002) 100 Cal.App.4th 590, 595.)

As first enacted, the statute did not explicitly require that the trial court conduct a hearing to determine the defendant's ability to pay probation costs. The statute provided, in relevant part, that:

[t]he court may, in its discretion, order the defendant to appear before a county officer designated by the court to make an inquiry into the ability of the defendant to pay all or a portion of such costs. At a hearing, the defendant shall be entitled to have, but shall not be limited to, the opportunity to be heard in person, to present witnesses and other documentary evidence, and to confront and cross-examine adverse witnesses, and to disclosure of the evidence against the defendant, and a written statement of the findings of the court.

(Stats.1980, ch. 555, § 1.) Nonetheless, appellate courts interpreted the statute to include that requirement. (See, e.g., *People v. Wilson* (1982) 130 Cal.App.3d 264, 268-269 ["[i]t is plain from the words of the statute that the court itself must hold hearings, if any, and make all orders attendant thereto"]; *Bennett, supra,* 196 Cal.App.3d at p. 1056 ["Penal Code section 1203.1b clearly contemplates a hearing at which the defendant may confront evidence of his ability to pay].) In *People v. Adams* (1990) 224 Cal.App.3d 705 (*Adams*), Division Two of the Fourth District also found that the statute required a hearing as a prerequisite to a probation costs order, and found that "because no hearing was conducted, there is no evidence to support the court's finding that defendant had the ability to pay." (*Id.* at pp. 712-713.)

However, following this Court's opinion in *Welch*, the Court of Appeal for the Sixth Appellate District decided *People v. Phillips* (1994) 25 Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> 62 (*Phillips*.) In *Phillips*, the defendant had entered a negotiated plea to narcotics offenses. (*Id.* at p. 66.) Prior to sentencing, the probation officer had

recommended that the court order payment of probation costs, but had made no recommendation on defendant's ability to pay. (*Ibid.*) At sentencing, the court placed the defendant on probation, and inquiring regarding the nature of his employment, elicited that the defendant worked part time. (*Id.* at p. 67.) The court then imposed various fines and fees, including payment of probation costs. (*Ibid.*) Defendant accepted probation under the terms enumerated. (*Ibid.*)

On defendant's appeal of the probation costs order, the Sixth District disagreed with the *Adams* court's interpretation of Penal Code section 1203.1b, and interpreted the statute to permit, but not require, an ability to pay hearing. (*Phillips*, *supra*, 25 Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> at pp. 69-70.) The court also found that defendant had forfeited any claim that the statute had required a separate hearing on his ability to pay. (*Id.* at p. 70.) The court also found that the statute did not require the formal presentation of evidence regarding a defendant's ability to pay where the defendant had shown himself "amenable to an informal proceeding" by failing to object. (*Ibid.*) Finally, the court found sufficient evidence in the record to support the trial court's implied ability to pay finding. (*Id.* at pp. 70-72.)

In 1995, following *Phillips*, the Legislature amended Penal Code section 1203.1b to add the procedural safeguards contained in the present statute. (Stats.1995, ch. 36 § 1.) These amendments provided, in relevant part, that prior to an order for payment of probation costs, the probation officer would inform the defendant of his or her right to a hearing on the defendant's ability to pay probation costs, and that absent the defendant's knowing and intelligent waiver of his or her right to a hearing, the probation officer would refer the matter to the court for the scheduling of a hearing. (*Ibid.*) As in the previous versions, the statute granted the defendant procedural rights with which to confront adverse

evidence and entitled the defendant to a written statement of the court's ability to pay findings. (*Ibid.*) The statute also modified the definition of "ability to pay" to permit trial courts to consider the defendant's reasonably discernible financial position for up to a year following the hearing, rather than six months. (*Ibid.*)

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